University of Denver Digital Commons @ DU

Undergraduate Theses, Capstones, and Recitals

Undergraduate Research

5-2022

Point of Use Technologies to Increase Access to Clean Water in Rural Communities

Elena Arroway University of Denver

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.du.edu/undergraduate_theses

Part of the Natural Resources Management and Policy Commons, Other Environmental Sciences Commons, and the Water Resource Management Commons

Recommended Citation

Arroway, Elena, "Point of Use Technologies to Increase Access to Clean Water in Rural Communities" (2022). *Undergraduate Theses, Capstones, and Recitals*. 7. https://digitalcommons.du.edu/undergraduate_theses/7



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 4.0 International License. This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Undergraduate Research at Digital Commons @ DU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Undergraduate Theses, Capstones, and Recitals by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ DU. For more information, please contact jennifer.cox@du.edu,digcommons@du.edu. Point of Use Technologies to Increase Access to Clean Water in Rural Communities

Elena Arroway University of Denver Advisor: Dr. Helen Hazen Spring 2022 Thesis

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	2
POU METHODS	4
THERMAL TECHNOLOGIES (BOILING)	6
CHEMICAL DISINFECTION	
Filters	9
Additional Technologies	
Coagulation, Precipitation, and/or Sedimentation	
UV Light Technologies	
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

Abstract

Access to clean water is an issue that many communities around the world struggle with. While large-scale efforts such as piping infrastructure have been successful, these are less effective at reaching small, rural communities. To supplement these efforts, point of use (POU) methods for water treatment can be implemented. These include boiling, chemical treatment, filters, and several additional technologies. These have all shown effectiveness in a lab setting, but their implementation in the real world, specifically in rural communities, has not been nearly as effective. In this paper, several different POU methods are evaluated for their effectiveness on a small-scale, including associated costs. A locally specific education campaign for the proper use of these technologies would empower individuals to treat their own water and be responsible for their own health in a way that has never been seen before.

Introduction

Globally, 2.2 billion people do not have access to safely managed drinking water services, and 144 million people drink untreated surface water such as that from a lake or river (World Health Organization 2019). This can lead to many health issues, especially in young children. Issues such as "gastrointestinal illness, nervous system or reproductive effects, and chronic diseases" can be caused by biological, chemical, and physical contaminants in drinking water (Environmental Protection Agency 2021). One of the most fatal of these effects is diarrhea, which largely affects children in low-income countries (Clasen, Thao, et al. 2008). This is especially a problem in rural areas, where 8 in 10 people lack access to basic drinking water services (World Health Organization 2019).

The WHO recognizes several methods for treating water to make it safe for drinking. This includes central treatment and household treatment. Central treatment is performed in a large plant and includes several steps such as pretreatment, coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, filtration, and primary disinfection. This is done on a large scale and is therefore most useful for large communities. Household treatment includes chemical disinfection using chlorine; membrane, porous ceramic, or composite filters; granular media filters; solar disinfection; UV light treatment; thermal technologies; and coagulation, precipitation, and sedimentation techniques (World Health Organization 2017). Each of these is explored in detail in this paper. Large scale efforts around the world have been very successful in bringing clean water to communities (World Health Organization 2017). The goal of these efforts is to bring clean water to as many people as possible, and that can be done most effectively by targeting urban areas. As such, rural communities are often disregarded in these efforts. Rural populations, while far more dispersed and harder to reach, make up a large portion of the global population. As many as 3.4

billion people live in rural areas, and 92% of these people live in developing countries (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2016).

To reach this population, small scale efforts such as those discussed in this paper could be implemented. These techniques include ways that people can treat their own water on an individual basis, without relying on government programs. This empowers people to treat their own water and be self-reliant. Government programs are often corrupted, especially in the developing world, causing vulnerable communities to suffer if they do not receive the aid these programs promise (World Bank 2021). Additionally, small scale methods can be implemented much faster than large scale. While funding and infrastructure needed for piping and large programs may take a long time to procure, smaller scale methods can be used almost immediately (Clasen, Thao, et al. 2008).

POU Methods

The WHO recognizes biological, chemical, and radiological contaminants. The WHO defines 24 pathogens, including bacteria, viruses, protozoa, and helminths, that can live in and be transmitted through water, and an additional 22 that may cause waterborne disease. In addition, they define several chemical contaminants: 8 naturally occurring, 21 from industrial processes, and 33 from agricultural sources (World Health Organization 2017). Physical contaminants include all other possible contaminants including dirt, sediment, and radiological contaminants. Point of use (POU) methods include several different techniques that treat water at the household scale. Each of these methods has different strengths, weaknesses, and circumstances where they are the most effective. Radiological contaminants are not considered here as their effects are more long-term and therefore of less immediate concern in the developing world. Physical contaminants are included in this discussion because they can affect the use of other methods such as chemical disinfection. Several methods are evaluated in terms of their effectiveness at remediating biological, chemical, and physical contaminants.

Various POU methods are summarized in Table 1 and are explained in more detail in subsequent sections. Thermal technologies are discussed first as they are the standard to which other techniques are compared (Rosa, Miller and Clasen 2010). This is followed by other water treatments, grouped by category: chemical treatment, filters, and additional technologies.

Technique	Biological	Chemical	Physical
Thermal technologies	Yes	No*	No*
Chemical disinfection	Yes	Yes*	No
Filters	Yes	Yes	Yes
Coagulation,	Yes	Yes	Yes
precipitation, and/or			
sedimentation			
UV disinfection	Yes	No	No

Table 1: Summary of POU Methods' Effectiveness in Remediating Contaminants

*May increase concentration. See sections below for additional details.

Thermal Technologies (Boiling)

Boiling is commonly used across the world for treatment of drinking water, and as many as 1.1 billion people practice this (Rosa, Miller and Clasen 2010). This is in use not only in developing countries but also in developed countries during water crises including biological contaminants (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2021). In lab environments, boiling has been found to kill biological contaminants that may be pathogenic. Chemical contaminants, however, may be increased in concentration as water evaporates off, and physical contaminants are not addressed.

In situ, many people do not boil their water correctly. The CDC recommends "bring[ing] water to a full rolling boil for 1 minute (at elevations above 6,500 feet, boil for 3 minutes)" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2021). In addition, many people do not store their boiled water correctly, leading to recontamination of the water. A 2010 study in Guatemala found that 71.2% of boiled water samples met WHO requirements for safe water, and 10.7% was in the low-risk category (Rosa, Miller and Clasen 2010). However, a 2008 study in India found that only 59.6% of boiled water samples were safe (Clasen, et al. 2008) and just 37% in Vietnam in 2008 (Clasen, Thao, et al. 2008).

Boiling is largely used due to its practicality, ease of use, and low cost to perform. A 2011 survey in Indonesia found that 83% of respondents thought boiling was practical, 73% thought it was easy, and 90% thought it was cheap, for example (Sodha, et al. 2011). It is commonly used in regions around the world that experience long or short-term needs for decontamination of water. It is very effective in removing biological contaminants, included that from fecal contamination and *E. coli*, which are very common contaminants in the developing world (Sodha, et al. 2011).

The main drawbacks of boiling are the cost associated with fueling, and the frequent errors in the process. In areas without electricity, wood or gas can be cost prohibitive. In addition, the use of boiling is largely over-reported. Brown and Sobsey found that 90% of households in Cambodia reported boiling as a water treatment technique they use, but only 31% had boiled water on hand at follow-up visits. In addition, many do not store their boiled water in a covered and small-mouthed container, thus making it more vulnerable to recontamination (Brown and Sobsey 2012).

A further problem relates to chemical and physical contaminants, which can be concentrated through the boiling process. The CDC only recommends boiling for biological contaminants, not for "harmful chemicals and toxins" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2019) or "radioactive materials" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2019).

Boiling is highly effective in areas with short-term water cleanliness problems such as following an environmental disaster or chemical spill. The CDC often issues boil water advisories if a community's water "has, or could have, germs that can make you sick" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2021). Several governmental efforts that advocate for boiling have been effective, especially when there is adequate knowledge and understanding of the reasoning behind the advisory (Vedachalam, Spotte-Smtih and Riha 2016).

Chemical Disinfection

Chemical disinfection includes the use of chlorine, iodine, and other chemicals to decontaminate water. This is largely done to kill biological pathogens or neutralize other known chemical contaminants in a sample. In the developing world, chlorine is usually used as it is the cheapest. Iodine can also be used to disinfect water, but residual amounts of this over long periods can be harmful. The WHO has examined other chemicals for this use, but chlorine and iodine are the only ones that are recommended (World Health Organization 2017). For this paper, only chlorine will be examined as it is the most cost-effective, easy to access, and sustainable for long-term use.

One of the main strengths of this technique over all other techniques is that residual chlorine in the water protects against recontamination. The storage of water can often lead to recontamination if containers are wide-mouthed, uncovered, or near a contaminant source such as a bathroom (Sodha, et al. 2011). Residual chlorine left in treated water samples ensures that any recontamination is remedied.

While residual chlorine can be beneficial in neutralizing recontamination, it can be dangerous if at too high of a level (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2020). Because of this, the dosing and use of chlorination must be well-tracked within a household to make sure the chlorine itself does not become a harmful contaminant (World Health Organization 2017). In addition, excess chlorine may change the taste or smell of the water, which some people do not like (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2020).

Filters

Filters include any medium through which water flows. This separates large particles such as dirt, but it can also decrease concentrations of chemical and physical contaminants. The WHO recognizes two different categories of filters: membrane, porous ceramic, or composite filters and granular media filters such as sand (World Health Organization 2017).

Granular media filters include the use of any small substance through which water can flow. This can be done on an industrial scale using pumps and the addition of other methods, but it can also be useful on a small scale. One simple example of this is slow sand filtration. Several different global projects have already been successful in implementing this technique (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2022). One example of this is the BioSand Water Filter, which contains all of the necessary setup for sand filtration to increase access to clean water. They have millions of their products in use around the world (Manz Engineering n.d.).

This technique has proven to be very effective in reducing biological, chemical, and physical contaminants from water samples. Slow sand filtration is very simple to set up and use, so there is a low probability of user error as seen in other methods such as boiling. In addition, the same sand can be used several times without needing replacement, so it is very low cost.

Despite the low cost of maintenance, there is a high cost to initially set up a sand filtration system. Due to the heavy weight of sand and large size of the apparatus required for effective filtration, this method is not very portable. Because of this, people that move frequently or spend time in several different homes may find it difficult to use this technique.

Due to their high initial cost, this technique is best suited to households that do not move around a lot and can maintain the same system for a long time. This technique would also be a good candidate for aid programs that would have a long-lasting impact as it can be used for a long period of time after the initial cost of setup.

Membrane filters differ from granular media in that the medium the water passes through is a single substance, not granular like sand. There are many different types of membrane, porous ceramic, and composite filters. This includes "carbon block filters, porous ceramics containing colloidal silver, reactive membranes, polymeric membranes and fibre/cloth filters" (World Health Organization 2017). Only carbon block filters, also known as biochar, will be examined in this section as the other methods are more expensive to obtain and use. Cloth filters, while inexpensive, have only been found to be effective in removing large contaminants as small contaminants can still pass through the cloth.

Biochar is a form of carbon produced from a variety of biomass sources that can be used as a membrane filter to disinfect water (Spokas 2020). It is particularly useful as a filter as it effectively removes chemical, biological, and physical contaminants, compared to other methods that only remove biological contaminants (Gwenzi, et al. 2017).

The main strength of biochar is its extremely low cost. Because it comes from organic materials, many people can make biochar themselves at home with only the cost of fuel to facilitate the process. In addition, biochar is already in use in many rural areas in developing countries as it is used for fuel. As many as 90% of households in poor and vulnerable communities in developing countries rely on biomass fuels such as wood or coal (Gwenzi, et al. 2017), so the materials are already readily available. In addition, biochar can still be used as fuel after it has been used as a filter, maximizing the return of the cost of biochar.

10

It also maintains organoleptic properties (taste, smell, color) of the water, which some other techniques do not. Secondary water characteristics like this play a big part in how "clean" and "safe" people think their water is (Sodha, et al. 2011), so maintaining these properties would make the technique easier to implement successfully. More research into how people's perceptions of their water affect their acceptance of the source is needed to solidify these results.

One of the main weaknesses of this technique is its contribution to a community's carbon footprint. In addition, biomass is an abundant resource that is present in relative abundance in many rural areas, but this may not be the case in urban areas. This also makes it more difficult to use on a larger scale. As such, the use of biochar as water treatment fills a very specific niche, mostly in rural areas. The main factors that make this a good treatment for a community are reliance on biomass for fuel and agriculture. Both require biochar already, making the process cheaper as the material can be reused.

Additional Technologies

Coagulation, Precipitation, and/or Sedimentation

Coagulation is the process by which contaminants are removed from water through the addition of a coagulant such as aluminum sulfate. This causes contaminants to precipitate out of solution and settle on the bottom through sedimentation. However, this process is rarely used by individual households due to the high specificity of skills required to perform this technique (Pooi and Ng 2018). Because this method is not a good candidate for household use, it will not be discussed further.

UV Light Technologies

UV light has been shown to be effective at killing pathogens in water sources. This can be done either with a UV lamp or by using the sun's energy. The cost of equipment and electricity makes a lamp much more costly than solar disinfection (SODIS).

SODIS is a very simple way to treat water and has been proven effective in the laboratory setting (Mausezahl, et al. 2009). The CDC recommends filling small (< 2 liter) bottles with the water to be treated, shaking them to oxygenate the water, and then leaving the bottles in the sun for 6 hours in sunny conditions or 2 days in cloudy conditions (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2022). This is a very easy technique with virtually no material or labor costs. This makes it a good candidate to deploy in rural communities. It has also proven to be very effective at removing pathogens in water (Mausezahl, et al. 2009).

The main drawback to this technique is that it takes time to prepare the treated water. Even in sunny conditions, it takes 6 hours for solar disinfection to be effective. This means that people must plan for how much water they will need in the next day or even several days. Treating too

much water at once and then storing it improperly can also lead to recontamination, as discussed with other techniques.

In summary, SODIS is a very cheap and easy way to treat water, but it only affects biological contaminants, not chemical or physical. Because of this, it may need to be used in addition to another technique such as chemical treatment that will completely treat the water to a drinkable standard.

Discussion and Conclusion

Although many of the techniques discussed in this paper have proven highly effective in a lab setting, their implementation in situ is not nearly as effective. From improper technique (Sodha, et al. 2011) to overreporting (Brown and Sobsey 2012) to lack of knowledge about the technique as a whole (Rosa, Miller and Clasen 2010), there are several factors that separate the lab setting from actual community implementation.

One of the main factors affecting implementation is the cost of these techniques. There are many techniques that are not discussed in this paper due to their high cost, such as forward and reverse osmosis, desalination, and large-scale wastewater treatment. Of those discussed in this paper, many can be relatively high cost based on regional factors. For example, boiling requires fuel to heat the water samples; chemical treatment requires the purchase of chlorine or another chemical. Even the techniques that have little to no monetary cost hold a burden of time. SODIS and filtration are good examples of this as they require the user to set up the treatment and wait for some time. This requires them to plan how much water they will need on a scale of days to weeks depending on the technique. The cost of the water treatment technique must therefore be weighed against its cost. Techniques that are too high cost, either monetarily or timewise, will likely not be practiced.

Another barrier to implementation of these techniques is the method to spread knowledge about the technique. For example, many people don't know how long they should boil their water or how to properly store it to prevent recontamination. Education campaigns in the past have mainly come from governments or NGOs (Sodha, et al. 2011). Learning how to disseminate this knowledge to rural and remote communities effectively is vital in the successful implementation of these techniques. Additionally, it is important to recognize that there are different water contaminants and costs in different regions. For example, the cost of fuel in India is much lower than it is in sub-Saharan Africa, indicating that boiling may be more or less appropriate in different regions. Similarly, the availability of chemicals for water treatment varies. Because of this, an education campaign should be highly specific and oriented to small geographic regions. In some cases, a combination of treatments may be more effective (World Health Organization 2017).

Despite the large variety of effective water treatment methods, their implementation has been largely unsuccessful to date due to cost and education (Sodha, et al. 2011). A highly localized education campaign would help with both, as the best treatment for each community can be found and taught to be used effectively. This would help bring water to rural communities that are harder to reach by large-scale efforts such as piping. By giving people the ability to treat their own water, they become empowered to control their own health regardless of state intervention or aid.

Bibliography

- Arnold, Benjamin F, and John M Colford Jr. 2007. "Treating water with chlorine at point-of-use to improve water quality and reduce child diarrhea in developing countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis." *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 76 (2): 354-364.
- Bolan, Nanthi, Son A Hoang, Jingzi Beiyuan, Souradeep Gupta, Deyi Hou, AJay Karakoti, Stephen Joseph, et al. 2021. "Multifunctional applications of biochar beyond carbon storage." *International Materials Reviews* 67 (2).
- Brown, Joseph, and Mark D Sobsey. 2012. "Boiling as Household Water Treatment in Cambodia: A Longitudinal Study of Boiling Practice and Microbiological Effectiveness." *The American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 87 (3): 394-398.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021. *Boil Water Advisory*. August 10. Accessed March 1, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/emergency/drinking/drinking-water-advisories/boil-water-advisory.html.
- —. 2019. Do Not Drink Water Advisory. July 12. Accessed March 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/emergency/drinking/drinking-water-advisories/do-not-drink-advisory.html.
- —. 2019. Do Not Use Water Advisory. July 12. Accessed March 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/emergency/drinking/drinking-water-advisories/do-not-use-advisory.html.
- —. 2022. Slow Sand Filtration. January 10. Accessed March 25, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/global/household-water-treatment/sand-filtration.html.
- —. 2022. Solar Disinfection. January 10. Accessed March 25, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/global/household-watertreatment/solardisinfection.html.
- Clasen, Thomas F, Do Hoang Thao, Sophie Boisson, and Oleg Shipin. 2008. "Microbiological effectiveness and cost of boiling to disinfect drinking water in rural Vietnam." *Environmental Science and Technology* 42 (12): 4255-4260.
- Clasen, Thomas F, Kelly T Alexander, David Sinclair, Sophie Boisson, Rachel Peletz, Howard H Chang, Fiona Majorin, and Sandy Cairncross. 2015. "Interventions to improve water quality for preventing diarrhoea." *Cochrane Database System Review* 10.
- Clasen, Thomas, Catherine McLaughlin, Neeru Nayaar, Sophie Boisson, Romesh Gupta, Dolly Desai, and Nimish Shah. 2008. "Microbiological effectiveness and cost of disinfecting water by boiling in semi-urban India." *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 79 (3): 407-413.

- Environmental Protection Agency. 2021. *Drinking Water*. September 28. Accessed March 24, 2022. https://www.epa.gov/report-environment/drinking-water.
- Fewtrell, Lorna, Rachel B Kaufmann, David Kay, Wayne Enanoria, Laurence Haller, and John M Colford Jr. 2005. "Water, sanitation, and hygiene interventions to reduce diarrhoea in less developed countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis." *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 5 (1): 42-52.
- Gwenzi, Willis, Nhamo Chaukura, Chicgoua Noubactep, and Fungai ND Mukome. 2017.
 "Biochar-based water treatment systems as a potential low-cost and sustainable technology for clean water provision." *Journal of Environmental Management* 197: 732-749.
- Luby, S P, A H Syed, N Atiullah, M K Faizan, and S Fisher-Hoch. 2000. "Limited effectiveness of home drinking water purification efforts in Karachi, Pakistan." *International Journal of Infectious Diseases* 4 (1): 3-7.
- Manz Engineering. n.d. *BioSand Water Filter*. Accessed April 3, 2022. https://manzwaterinfo.ca/.
- Mausezahl, Daniel, Andri Christen, Gonzalo Duran Pacheco, Fidel Alvarez Tellez, Mercedes Iriarte, Maria E Zapata, Myriam Cevallos, et al. 2009. "Solar drinking water disinfection (SODIS) to reduce childhood diarrhoea in rural Bolivia: a cluster-randomized, controlled trial." *PLOS Medicine* 6 (8).
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2016. Tackling rural development is essential for achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, says new OECD Development Centre report. 03 31. Accessed March 2022. https://www.oecd.org/development/tacklingruraldevelopmentisessentialforachievingthesu stainabledevelopmentgoalssaysnewoecddevelopmentcentrereport.htm.
- Pooi, Ching Kwek, and How Yong Ng. 2018. "Review of low-cost point-of-use water treatment systems for developing communities." *Nature Portfolio Journal Clean Water* 1.
- Rosa, Ghislaine, Laura Miller, and Thomas Clasen. 2010. "Microbiological Effectiveness of Disinfecting Water by Boiling in Rural Guatemala." *The American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 82 (3): 473-477.
- Sodha, Samir V, M Menon, K Trivedi, A Ati, M E Figueroa, R Ainslie, K Wannemuehler, and R Quick. 2011. "Microbiologic effectiveness of boiling and safe water storage in South Sulawesi, Indonesia." *Journal of Water and Health* 9 (3): 577-585.
- Spokas, Kurt. 2020. *Biochar*. March 03. Accessed February 2022. https://www.ars.usda.gov/midwest-area/stpaul/swmr/people/kurtspokas/biochar/#:~:text=DEFINITION%3A%20Biochar%20is%20black%20carbon,stabl e%20form%20(carbon%20sequestration).

United Nations. n.d. Water. Accessed April 3, 2022. https://www.un.org/en/global-issues/water.

- Vedachalam, Sridhar, Kyra T Spotte-Smtih, and Susan J Riha. 2016. "A meta-analysis of public compliance to boil water advisories." *Water Research* 94: 136-145.
- World Bank. 2021. *Combatting Corruption*. October 25. Accessed March 24, 2022. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/governance/brief/anti-corruption.
- World Health Organization. 2019. 1 in 3 people globally do not have access to safe drinking water – UNICEF, WHO. June 18. Accessed March 2022. https://www.who.int/news/item/18-06-2019-1-in-3-people-globally-do-not-have-accessto-safe-drinking-water-unicef-who.
- —. 2017. "Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality." World Health Organization. April 24. Accessed March 2022. https://www.who.int/teams/environment-climate-change-andhealth/water-sanitation-and-health/water-safety-and-quality/drinking-water-qualityguidelines.
- —. 2005. "Preventing Travellers' Diarrhoea: How to Make Drinking Water Safe." World Health Organization. Accessed March 2022. https://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/water-quality/sdwtravel.pdf.